1.
INTRODUCTION

1.1 Bristol and Region Archaeological Services (BaRAS) was commissioned by Barton Willmore, on behalf of the Filwood Playing Fields Trust, to carry out a desk-based assessment of Filwood Park playing fields south of Creswicke Road in Filwood, Bristol (centred on NGR ST 5920 6930; Fig.1; Cover) prior to the proposed re-landscaping of the site.

1.2
The study area (Fig. 2), situated in the suburb of Filwood, is located approximately 6km south of Bristol city centre at a height of approximately 60m above Ordnance Datum (aOD) and covers about 7.7 hectares (some 19 acres). It is bounded to the northeast by Nos. 93 – 119 Creswicke Road, northwest by Creswicke Road itself, west by Home Mead Elderly Persons Home and Nos. 195 – 209 & Nos. 227 - 237 Home Mead, southwest by Gerrard Close (road) and Nos.1 – 6 Gerrard Close, south by South Bristol Business Park (commercial retail units and a bus depot) on Roman Farm Road, southeast by derelict land (site of a former aircraft hanger/later an engineering works) awaiting redevelopment and east by Filwood Park Public Open Space (public park). The geology comprises Lower Lias clays overlying Lias limestone, both of the Jurassic period.

1.3
This desk-based assessment was conducted in accordance with instructions issued by the City Archaeologist for Bristol City Council, so as to conform to the conditions of planning consent formulated by the local planning authority (Bristol City Council). The study area is not located in a Conservation Area and there are no listed buildings in the vicinity of the site. Several archaeological projects have previously been carried out within the study area. In 1982 Mr R.G.J. Williams of BAARG directed an excavation (Williams 1983; HER 20253) that revealed evidence of 2nd-4th century AD Romano-British settlement (HER 2011M). In 1995 Rod Burchill undertook an archaeological desktop study (HER 20044) of the playing fields (BaRAS Report BA/D202), followed by a geophysical survey (HER 20256) over parts of the study area by Stratascan in February 1996 (Fig.3) and an evaluation in 2004 by Cotswold Archaeology. National and local planning policies, including Planning Policy Guidance Note 16 (Dept of Environment), state that there should be a presumption in favour of the preservation of nationally important archaeological features and sites. The best means of determining the existence and quality of such sites is by documentary study and, if necessary, by geophysical survey and selective field evaluation. This study represents the first stage in this process.

1.4
The study involved a visit by Timothy Longman of Bristol and Region Archaeological Services to the Bristol Record Office (BRO), on Friday 10 October 2008, where primary and secondary documentary sources, including photographic, cartographic and other published material was examined, and a visit to the study area on Monday 13 October 2008. 

1.5 Copies of the report will be submitted to the Bristol City Council Historic Environment Record (HER) and to the National Monuments Record Centre (NMRC) in Swindon, which is maintained by English Heritage.

2.
AIMS AND METHODOLOGY

2.1
The aim of this desk-based assessment is to inform the planning process in order that a reasoned decision can be taken regarding any archaeological resource.

2.2 The principal objectives of the assessment are:

•
to locate any archaeological features affected by the proposed development, assessing the potential for survival, likely condition, and significance of any archaeological features, deposits or structures within the study area.

•
to advise on the potential impact of development upon the archaeological resource.

2.3
The following key sources have been consulted

•
Documentary sources relevant to the study area including maps and surveys, leases etc.

▪
Topographical photographs, prints and drawings

•
Bristol City Council Historic Environment Record (HER)


•
Other published sources as a general background

2.4
The project has been referenced in the Bristol Historic Environment Record under HER 24654 and under OASIS 49691.  

3.
HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

3.1 The study area is situated in the historic parish of Whitchurch, which formed part of the hundred of Keynsham (until the Local Government Act of 1888), in the county of Somerset.

3.2
Keynsham Hundred is not yet covered by the Victoria History of the Counties of England, but there is an early account by Collinson (1791). A recent study of the hundred of Keynsham is by Prosser (1995b). Recent studies of the history of Whitchurch include those by Bettey (1976) and Slade (1995). 
3.3 There is evidence of both prehistoric and Romano-British activity in the vicinity of Whitchurch. The former is evidenced by the earthwork hillfort of Maes Knoll c.2.5km southeast of the study area. The Roman period is represented by numerous finds made at various locations throughout the parish, including two stone coffins found near Lyons Court in 1886. Since the early 1980’s ample evidence for Romano-British settlement has been recorded in the Inns Court and Filwood Park areas.

3.4 The remains of part of a monumental linear earthwork of Saxon origin, known as the Wansdyke, are situated c.3km southeast of the study area.

3.5 The Domesday Survey of 1086 included Whitchurch (otherwise known as Filton or Felton) in the fifty hides belonging to the manor of Keynsham, which was held by King William I (1066-87).

3.6 By the late 12th century the manor of Whitchurch was part of the estate belonging to Keynsham Abbey. The abbey was founded c.1167 by William, Earl of Gloucester in memory of his son Robert who had died in 1166. Keynsham Abbey is known to have had two granges (farms) at Lyons Court (extant) and at Filwood, both in Whitchurch parish. The parish church of St Nicholas, in Whitchurch village, dates from the 12th century and is built on the site of the chapel of St Whyte. 

3.7
Keynsham Abbey retained the ownership of the manor of Whitchurch until the abbeys’ dissolution in 1539, when its’ lands were forfeited to the crown. Following this the lands were granted by King Henry VIII to his wife, Queen Catherine (Parr). After her death the manor was subsequently granted to Sir John St Loe in 1549 (4 Edward VI) for a period of sixty years (BRO AC/36074). In the same year the king granted an area of woodland, known as Filwood, to Sir Raph Sadlier. In 1552 Sir John St Loe transferred his estates to his son Edward.
3.8 By a deed dated October 6 1562 Edward St Loe granted his lease of the manor of Whitchurch to Hugh Smyth of Ashton Court (Long Ashton, Som.). In 1579 (10 Feb. 21 Elizabeth) Queen Elizabeth granted the manor of ‘Fylton alias Whitchurch’ to Edward Downing and John Walker. A year later (10 Feb. 22 Elizabeth) this lease was conveyed to Mathew Smyth and ‘his heirs thereafter’ (BRO 151580).  

3.9 In 1627 (14 June 3 Charles) the manor of Whitchurch was confirmed to Lady Elizabeth      Gorges for life and afterwards to her son Thomas Smyth.

3.10 Between the 16th and 19th centuries Whitchurch remained a relatively isolated rural parish comprising the manors of Lyons Court and Filton (or Felton). Between c.1600 and 1700 the population of the parish was approximately 200. Numbers had risen to 362 by 1801. 

3.11 By 1730 the name Filwood Park had been replaced by Filwood Farm (Survey of the Manor of Whitchurch for Sir John Smyth [BRO AC/M11/32]) and the property of 201 aces was rented by James Forest. The farm was not included in a later survey of Smyth estate lands, dated 1789 (BRO AC/E8), presumably because the holding had become part of the estate of the Gore Langton family (who had been granted some Smyth estate lands as part of a marriage settlement), of Newton Park (Newton St. Loe, Som.), by that time. 

3.12 The 1840 tithe apportionment (BRO 245372) records that ‘Fillwood House’ was then the property of Edward Gore Langton and was occupied by Benjamin Hall (tenant farmer). He was still recorded as the tenant in the census return of 1851 when the farm was listed as occupying 250 acres and employing 9 labourers.

3.13 The population of Whitchurch continued growing through the 19th century. Numbers had reached 428 in 1851 and 544 in 1901. Farming was the predominant activity in the parish with most land used for pasturage. The Bristol & North Somerset Railway opened in 1873 and the section of the line between Bristol and Radstock included a halt at Whitchurch. The line closed in 1969.

3.14 By the beginning of the 20th century Whitchurch parish comprised a small village serving the surrounding rural community of scattered farms (including Filwood Farm)  and cottages. An aerodrome was constructed near Hengrove Farm, c.2km north-west of the village, in 1929-30. It served as Bristol’s main airport for many years until being superceded by the airfield at Lulsgate (now Bristol International Airport), near Wrington (Som.). Flying ceased at Hengrove in 1957.

3.15 The Hall family continued to live at Filwood Farm until the end of the Second World War, having bought the freehold from the Gore Langton family (Earls Temple of Stowe) in 1924. The administrative boundary of the City and County of Bristol was extended south, incorporating parts of Whitchurch parish, in 1930, 1933, 1951 and 1966. The study area was included within the revised boundaries of Bristol in 1930. 

3.16 In 1945 the farm was compulsory purchased by the Corporation of Bristol and the buildings were subsequently demolished to make way for new housing. The site of Filwood Farm was finally developed after 1999 with the construction of the South Bristol Business Park.

4.
ARCHAEOLOGICAL EVIDENCE

4.1
Several previous archaeological projects have taken place in the vicinity of the study area. A trawl of the Bristol City Council Historic Environment Record (HER) was provided by Peter Insole (HER Officer). Several entries are recorded both within the study area itself and in the surrounding area (see Fig. 12) and are summarised in Table 1 below:

Table 1: Summary of Bristol City Council Historic Environment Record (HER) trawl


No.

Location


Description


Year/Period


1732M

Inns Court Drive

Inns Court


C16th-C20th

1733M

Filwood Park

Ring earthwork


Unknown


1734M

Inns Court Drive

Filwood Deer Park


Medieval


1777M

Filwood Broadway

Church of Christ the King

1951-


1778M

Filwood Broadway

Broadway Cinema


1938-


1879M

Inns Court Drive

Holy Cross Church


1959-98


1928M

Inns Court Drive

Holy Cross Church


1999-


2011M

Filwood Park

Romano-British settlement

C1st-C4th


2804M

South Bristol Business Park
Filwood Farm


C17th-C20th


20044

Filwood Playing Fields
Desk-based Assessment

1995


20045

Filwood Playing Fields
Evaluation


1996


20053

Inns Court Drive

Desk-based Assessment

1996


20054

Inns Court Drive

Evaluation


1996

20253

Filwood Playing Fields
Excavation


1982


20254

Gerrard Close

Evaluation


1997


20256

Filwood Playing Fields
Geophysical Survey

1996


20338

Hengrove Way

Watching Brief


1999


20348

Inns Court Drive

Excavation


1997


20349

Gerrard Close

Excavation


1998


20396

South Bristol Business Park
Watching Brief


2000


20460

South Bristol Business Park
Watching Brief


1998


20465

South Bristol Business Park
Watching Brief


1998


20638

South Bristol Business Park
Photo of Filwood Farm

1945


20786

Inns Court Drive

Evaluation


2001


21529

Inns Court Drive

Excavation


2002


21802

Inns Court Drive

Watching Brief


2003


21892

Creswicke Road

Evaluation


2004


24654

Filwood Playing Fields
Desk-based Assessment

2008




4.2
There are five entries on the Historic Environment Record (HER) located within the study area itself.

5.
CARTOGRAPHIC EVIDENCE 

5.1
The earliest detailed cartographic evidence of the study area is on a late 18th century estate map titled ‘A Plan of the Manor of Filton, alias Whitchurch, in the County of Somerset’ (Fig. 4). It shows that by then the site comprised parts of three fields, ‘plot 1’, ‘plot 71’, and ‘plot 77’, all forming part of the Filwood Farm land holding.

5.2
An early 19th century estate map also called ‘A Plan of the Manor of Filton, alias Whitchurch, in the County of Somerset’ (Fig. 5) shows no changes from the earlier map.
5.3
The tithe map of 1840 (Fig. 6) for the parish of Whitchurch shows the same fields, but the plot numbers had been altered. ‘Plot 105 ’, known as ‘Home Mead’, which covered an area of some 16 acres (6.4 hectares), ‘plot 106’, known as ‘Great Oustom’, which covered some 20 acres (8 hectares), and ‘plot 107’, known as ‘Little Oustom’, which covered some 6 acres (2.4 hectares) were all fields under pasture, owned by Edward Gore Langton and occupied (farmed) by Benjamin Hall of ‘Fillwood House’. This owner/tenant arrangement also applied to many of the neighbouring fields, all of which were also under pasture.

	Landowner
	Occupier
	No.
	Name
	State of Cultivation
	Quantities

	
	
	
	
	
	a
	r
	p

	Edward Gore Langton
	Benjamin Hall
	  96
	Briary Leaze
	Pasture
	41
	1
	38

	
	
	  97
	Tyning
	------Do------
	12
	3
	6

	
	
	  98
	Garden
	Garden
	-
	2
	26

	
	
	  99
	Orchard
	Orchard
	-
	3
	30

	
	
	100
	Orchard
	------Do------
	-
	2
	27

	
	
	101
	Rickyard
	-
	-
	-
	15

	
	
	102
	Fillwood House, Yard & Outbuildings
	-
	1
	1
	-

	
	
	103
	Garden
	Garden
	-
	-
	22

	
	
	104
	Summer Leaze
	Pasture
	20
	3
	28

	
	
	105
	Home Mead
	------Do------
	16
	-
	33

	
	
	106
	Great Oustom
	------Do------
	20
	-
	 7

	
	
	107
	Little Oustom
	------Do------
	6
	-
	    10

	
	
	108
	Two Acres
	------Do------
	2
	1
	       9


Table 3: Extract from 1840 Whitchurch Tithe Apportionment (BRO) (see Fig. 5 for map)

5.4
The First Edition Ordnance Survey plan (1:2500 scale) (Fig. 7), surveyed in 1883, shows no changes to the study area, other than that Filwood Farm is shown as ‘Philwood Farm’.

5.5
The study area is shown, on both the Second Edition (1903) and the Third Edition (1916) (Fig. 8) Ordnance Survey plans (1:2500), as being unaltered apart from the spelling of ‘Fillwood Farm’. 

5.6 The Ordnance Survey 1:2500 plan edition of 1931 shows no changes to the study area.

5.7 By the time of the 1946 O. S. plan edition (Fig. 9) post-war housing estates had been built to the north and west of the study area, including along the Creswicke Road frontage of the site. To the southeast were an aircraft hanger, aircraft taxi runways and ancillary buildings belonging to Bristol (Whitchurch) Airport. The map evidence suggests that Filwood Farm, south of the study area, was in the process of being demolished and it appears unnamed.

5.8 The O. S. 1:2500 plan edition of 1968 shows no changes to the study are or its’ environs, other than the disappearance of Filwood Farm.

5.9 The 1977 Ordnance Survey plan (1:2500) (Fig. 10) shows the study area much as it appears today. The pre-fab houses fronting Creswicke Road had all been demolished since 1968. A ‘Pavilion’, incorporating changing rooms and showers, and a car park had instead been built next to Creswicke Road. That building has recently been replaced by a new facility at the east-end of the car park. The southern half of the playing fields, which by the late 1970’s extended as far south as Hengrove Way, were developed after 1999 for the South Bristol Business Park. 

6.
AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHIC EVIDENCE

General

6.1
A number of copies of air-photographs obtained from the National Monuments Record Centre (NMRC) in Swindon for an earlier project (BaRAS Report No. 1379/2004) on a nearby site (Enquiry No. AP 71400) were examined. The available photographs were studied in accordance with standard procedures for air-photograph analysis (Brophy & Cowley 2005; Wilson 2000).  

6.2
One vertical air-photograph (taken in March 1955) incorporating the western part of the study area has been selected for inclusion in this report (see Fig. 11) with the observations made summarised in Table 4 below and annotated on Fig. 11.

	Photograph Reference
	Date
	Observations



	RAF/82/1127 frame 99

(see Fig. 7)


	24th March 1955
	1) Numerous linear features visible in fields within and to the south of the study area (indicated in yellow on Fig. 11) on areal units 2 and 3

2) Farm tracks leading NW/SE to/from Inns Court and Filwood Farm and SW/NE to/from the fields, towards the west end of areal unit 3

3) Part of study area bestrides pre-fab houses on Creswicke Road


Table 4:  Air-Photograph Observations


Discussion

6.3
Several features of particular archaeological significance were observed within the study area, apparently comprising a number of linear features in areal units 2 and 3, suggesting a pre-enclosure origin.

6.4 While it is likely that some of the visible features represent footpaths and/or modern field drains, others may well be ‘fossil’ field boundaries (Jackson 1958/59) associated with ancient farming (Taylor 1975). Ditches and other features of Roman-British and medieval date have been recorded both within the study area and in the general locality.

6.5 However, as a word of caution when considering the possible antiquity of these features, it should be remembered that it was common practice both prior to and during the Second World War to create ditches and other obstacles in fields surrounding strategic locations such as airfields, in order to hinder possible airborne assaults. Indeed, during a watching brief (HER 20096) on a site on the north side of Hengrove Park (the site of Whitchurch Airport between 1930 and 1957) in 1997 a ‘meandering negative feature’ was recorded. This was interpreted as ‘some kind of defensive emplacement’ dating from before 1938.

7.
CONCLUSIONS

7.1 Planning and Policy Guidance Note 16: Archaeology and Planning (PPG 16, 1990) highlights the fragility and finite nature of England’s archaeological resource. It is stressed that, depending on the particular circumstances invloved, significant archaeological remains should be preserved, whether physically or ‘by record’ (Breeze 1993; Cullingworth & Nadin 1994). 

7.2 Several previous archaeological investigations have been undertaken in relation to the study area and its locality. In addition to an archaeological desktop study (HER 20044) by Rod Burchill (BaRAS Report BA/D202) undertaken in 1995, three programmes of archaeological fieldwork have taken place within the study area itself. In 1982 (HER 20253) an excavation directed by Mr R. G. J. Williams of BAARG (Williams 1983) recorded evidence of 2nd – 4th century Romano-British occupation, including stone building foundations, cobbled (?yard) surfaces and ditches, pottery, copper alloy (CuAl) brooches and other jewellery. In 1996 Stratascan undertook a geophysical survey (HER 20256) over much of the site, while in 2004 Cotswold Archaeology undertook a small evaluation (HER 21892) comprising two trenches, on the proposed site of a new sports pavilion near Creswicke Road. Most, if not all, archaeological work undertaken in the vicinity of the study area has recorded the surface of the natural Lias clay at depths of approximately 0.2 – 0.25m beneath the existing ground level, indicating that any surviving archaeology may lie relatively close to the surface.

7.3 It is understood that most of the study area (areal units 1, 2 and 3) has never been subject to much disturbance, other than possible plough damage and field drains while used as farmland and perhaps some previous landscaping and drainage work associated with its time as playing fields. Therefore one might normally expect reasonable preservation of any archaeological features and deposits present. Two rows of pre-fabricated houses (16 in total) were constructed alongside the Creswicke Road frontage after World War Two, but they had all been demolished by 1977. Since then only two structures (sports pavilions) have been built within the study area, both in the vicinity of the existing car park. 

7.4 During the examination of photocopies of aerial photographs from the collection of the National Monuments Record Centre (NMRC) in Swindon, several linear features were noted in areal units 2 & 3 (within the study area) on photographs dating from October 1946 and March 1955. When a site visit was conducted a few days later, particular attention was paid to the portions of the study area where any such features may have been present but no obvious surface features were observed.

7.5
It is understood that re-landscaping proposals for the playing fields include importing inert material on to site in order to produce a uniform and level playing surface across the various football pitches.  New drainage will be laid within the imported material, thus avoiding any impact on in-situ archaeology.  The entire area will then be re-turfed.
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APPENDIX 1: Policy Statement

This report is the result of work carried out in the light of national and local authority policies.

NATIONAL POLICIES

Statutory protection for archaeology is enshrined in the Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act (1979), amended by the National Heritage Act, 1983. Nationally important sites are listed in the Schedule of Ancient Monuments (SAM). Scheduled Monument consent is required for any work which would affect a SAM.

ODPM PLANNING POLICY GUIDANCE

The Planning Policy Guidance of Archaeology and Planning (PPG 16) consolidates advice to planning authorities. The Guidance stresses the non-renewable nature of the archaeological resource, details the role of the County Sites and Monuments Record (SMR), encourages early consultation with county and district archaeological officers and sets out the requirement for developers to provide sufficient information on the archaeological impact of development to enable a reasonable planning decision to be made.

PPG 16 also indicates the circumstances where further work would be necessary and outlines the use of agreements and conditions to protect the archaeological resource.

DISTRICT POLICY

Bristol City Council Supplementary Planning Document (2006) states (policy SPD No.7, p4):

(i)
There will be a presumption in favour of preserving any archaeological features or sites of national importance, whether scheduled or not.

(ii)
Development which could adversely affect sites, structures, landscapes or buildings of archaeological interest and their settings will require an assessment of the archaeological resource through a desktop study, and where appropriate a field evaluation. Where there is evidence of archaeological remains, development will not be permitted except where it can be demonstrated that the archaeological features of the site will be satisfactorily preserved in situ, or a suitable strategy has been put forward to mitigate the impact of development proposals upon important archaeological remains and their settings; or, if this is not possible and the sites are not scheduled or of national importance, provision for adequately recording the site prior to destruction is made, preferably by negotiating a planning agreement to ensure that access, time and financial resources are available to allow essential recording and publication to take place.
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